Babeş-Bolyai University of Cluj-Napoca Faculty of Biology and Geology

Macalik Kunigunda

GENETIC STRUCTURE OF THE *ERYTHRONIUM DENS-CANIS* L. AND *SCILLA BIFOLIA* L. POPULATIONS FROM THE EASTERN CARPATHIAN BASIN – PHYLOGEOGRAPHIC AND CONSERVATION APPROACHES

Summary of the PhD thesis

Scientific coordinator: prof.dr. Octavian Popescu

> Cluj-Napoca 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

KEYWORDS4
INTRODUCTION
1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND
1. 1. General characterization of the species
1.1.1. Erythronium dens-canis
1.1.2 Scilla bifolia
1.2. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic studies7
1.2.1. Theoretical considerations
1.2.2. Molecular technics and markers used in plant phylogeny
and phylogeography9
1.3. Conservation genetics – an applied science
2. THE OBJECTIVES
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS11
3.1. Sampling11
3.2. DNA extraction
3.3. Molecular markers used13
3.4. PCR amplification14
3.5. Sequencing14
3.6. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic analysis14
3.6.1. DNA sequence alignment14
3.6.2. Haplotype network reconstruction15
3.6.3. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid DNA sequencies15
3.6.4. Calculation of the genetic diversity indices of the clades
in case of <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i> 15

4. RESULTS	15
4.1. Results of DNA extraction, sequence amplification, sequencing	
and alignment of DNA fragments	15
4.1.1. Erythronium dens-canis	16
4.1.1.1. Plastid DNA	16
4.1.1.2. Nuclear DNA	16
4.1.2. Scilla bifolia	16
4.2. Number, structure, distribution and haplotype network	
for the Erythronium dens-canis	16
4.3. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid DNA sequences	19
4.3.1. Erythronium dens-canis	19
4.3.2. Scilla bifolia	21
4.4. Genetic diversity indices of the clades in case of Erythronium dens-canis	24
5. DISCUSSION	24
5.1. Erythronium dens-canis	24
5.2. Scilla bifolia	27
6. CONCLUSIONS	28
7. SELECTED REFERENCES	30
8. TABLE OF CONTENTS OF THE PHD THESIS	35

KEYWORDS

conservation genetics cryptic refugia Eastern Carpathian Basin *Erythronium dens-canis* phylogeography phylogeny plastid DNA *rpl32-trnL rps15-ycf1 Scilla bifolia* s.1.

INTRODUCTION

This study presents the most important results of the author from the last three years, concerning the phylogeny/phylogeography of two monocotyledonous species - *Erythronium dens canis* L. (LILIACEAE) and *Scilla bifolia* L. (ASPARAGACEAE) from throughout much of their distribution range, with a focus on the Eastern Carpathian Basin.

Plant biology researches, even those with ecological characters are not complete without applying modern technics of molecular biology.

Researchers started to be interested in the biogeography of the Carpathian Basin since the 1970s, (Bănărescu and Boşcaiu, 1973), in times when studies relied on paleontological (fossils) and palinological data, on one hand, and on biogeographical data, on the other. Actual researches complete the former theories and add new ones, using clear arguments, based on results of molecular studies. Actual technics of DNA isolation, amplification and sequencing of targeted fragments allow new data aquisition (based on genealogy), data which can be used in molecular taxonomy studies using computational methods. In this way classical taxonomy (based on morphological characters) is completed, and the taxonomic position of uncertain taxa can be clarified. On a finer scale, these data help on finding the degree of relatedness of different populations belonging to the same species, beeing an important instrument in phylogeographical studies. Moreover, the genetic diversity of

populations (which has an important application in conservational projects, in selection of populations of conservational success - conservation genetics) can be calculated based on these data.

The main question of the researh was if cryptic glacial refugia, where a series of species managed to survive glaciations and expanded afterwards their range of distribution, reaching there actual distribution range existed in the Eastern part of the Carpathian Basin (Transylvania).

The reasons in choosing these two species were:

- former studies concerning *Erythronium dens-canis* found a Transylvanian lineage with high genetic diversity, confined to the Carpathian Basin, and a non-Transylvanian lineage, which is much more uniform and has a wide distribution range. We proposed to study the structuring of this Transylvanian lineage with a much denser sampling as compared with the previous study.

- we searched for a second species which can be sampled together with the former one (another early spring geophyte) and in case of which the same molecular marker can be applied. We decided to choose *Scilla bifolia*, because in pilot testing this turned out to have a high variability of the sequencies.

1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

1. 1. General characterization of the species

1.1.1. Erythronium dens-canis

Erythronium dens-canis L. belongs to subfamily LILIOIDEAE, family LILIACEAE of the order LILIALES (Bremer and colab., 2009).

The genus *Erytrhonium* appeared approx. 12 million years ago in the eastern part of Asia, from where it spread in Europe, the easter and western parts of North America (Patterson and Givnish, 2002). It has a disjunct distribution: from the 28 species, 17 appear in the western and 6 in the eastern part of North America, and 5 species in Europe (Allen et al., 2003; Bartha et al., 2015b). The genus is morphologic homogenous, easy to recognise. Out of the 5

Eurasian species just one is present in Europe, *Erythronium dens-canis* (Săvulescu, 1966), *E. sajanense, E. sibiricum, E. japonicum* and *E. caucasicum* are Asian species.

In Romania, *Erythronium dens-canis* has been traditionally known as beeing present with two subspecies: *E. dens-canis* ssp. *dens-canis* and *E. dens-canis* ssp. *niveum* (Baumg) Buia et Păun (Ciocârlan, 2009). The taxonomic status of the subspecies has not been studied by molecular methods. According to the Flora Europaea (Richardson, 1980) these taxa appear as varieties. The chromosome numbers of the species are 2n=24 (Moore, 1982; Ciocârlan, 2009), but tetraploid populations are also known (Siljak-Yakovlev et al., 2010).

Erythronium dens-canis is widely distributed in southern Europe (Pirin Mts., France, Italy, Hungary, Czech Repuplic, Slovakia, The northern Balkan Peninsula) (Richardson, 1980).

The plant is common in most parts of Romania, growing in decidous forests from the lowlands to the hilly regions (Săvulescu, 1966; Ciocârlan, 2009).

Erythronium dens-canis is an eurasian geophyte, mesophyte, mesotherm, mesotrph species, characteristic of Carpinion (Sanda et al., 1983).

Erythronium dens-canis is a myrmecochorous species, the secondary dispersion of the seeds is made by ants. As a consequence, the species has a limited capacity of seed dispersion.

The phylogeny of the *Erythronium* has been largely studied. Phylogenies based on morphological characters and molecular analyses (*matK*, nrITS, *rps16* and 5' *trnK*) show *Erythronium*, *Amana* and *Tulipa* in the same, well supported clade, with *Gagea* as sister group. All of the phylogeographic groups of the *Erythronium* (Eurasian, Eastern North American and Western North American) form well supported subclades (Allen et al., 2003; Clennett et al., 2012).

The biology of *Erythronium dens-canis* is poorly understood, unlike that of non-European species of the genus, about which considerable information exists (Guitián et al., 1999; Guitián et al., 2003).

1.1.2. Scilla bifolia

Scilla genus (ASPARAGACEAE, ASPARAGALES) (Bremer and colab., 2009) is an extremely heterogenous genus, very variable as it concerns its caryological characters (Speta, 1979). It has about 100 species, distributed in southern Europe, Central and Western Asia (Ghavami et al., 2009).

The Central- and Western European *Scilla* populations have been included until 1970 in a single, largely defined species: *Scilla bifolia* s.l. Detailed taxonomic studied proove the existance of a group of species – series of taxa with different poliploidy level: x=9 şi 2n=18, 36, 54, associated with some ecological and morphological characters.

According to Ciocârlan (2009) the species has two subspecies in Romania: ssp. *drunensis* Speta and ssp. *bifolia*.

Scilla bifolia L. has a large distributional range in Europe, it is a common species in Romania, it grows in decidous forests from the plain to the mountainous regions. Is an eurasian geophyte, mesophyte, mesotherm and mesotroph, species of Querco-Fagetea, Carpinion, Alno-Padion (Sanda et al., 1983).

1.2. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic studies

1.2.1. Theoretical considerations

Phylogeny shows the evolutionary relationships between different taxonomic groups, it deals with resolving the evolutionary history of a group of organisms, a taxon. The principle underlying phylogeny is that members of a group or clade share a common evolutionary history and they are more related to each other than with other group members. Current researches for resolving the degree of relatedness of taxa use information about macromolecules (DNA, proteins) besides morphological characters.

Understanding how historical events have helped to shape the current geographical dispersion of genes, populations and species is the major goal of phylogeography, a term that was introduced by Avise et al. (1987). Phylogeography can be defined as a 'field of study concerned with the principles and processes governing the geographic distributions of genealogical lineages, especially those within and among closely related species' (Avise, 2000). Advancing of the methodology (DNA technology), as well as the analytical approach of phylogeography allows the assessment of the postglacial chronological and geographical distribution of different genetic lineages.

Phylogeographic studies of alpine plants covering several European mountain ranges are numerous. The Quaternary history of the flora of Alps is well understand (Tribsch and Schönswetter, 2003; Schönswetter et al., 2005; Ehrich et al., 2007; Schneeweiss and Schönswetter, 2011). There are relatively few recent studies on biogeography of the Carpathian Basin (Schmitt et al., 2006; Provan and Bennett, 2008; Varga, 2010; Bálint et al.,

2011; Ronikier, 2011; Ujvárosi and Markó, 2011; Schmitt and Varga, 2012), especially based on the study of angiosperms. Phylogeographic studies from the Carpathians on different plant species are known mostly on alpine species (Schönswetter et al., 2005; Puşcaş et al., 2008; Ronikier et al., 2008; Csergő et al., 2009; Ronikier et al., 2012).

Classical theories of the quaternary history of species in temperate Europe place glacial refuges in peninsulas of southern Europe (the Iberian Peninsula, the Balkans and the Apennine). According to this theory a number of species have survived glaciation during the Pleistocene periods in these areas, where diversity has increased (Ibrahim et al., 1996; Taberlet et al., 1998; Hewitt, 1999; Schmitt, 2007). With the retreat of glaciers to the North , the species expanded to the North colonizing new areas released by the action of glaciers: the expansion - contraction model - EC. Recently, studies of phylogeography based on molecular analyses have provided new data on the history of species during glaciations. In the 2000s a new theory appeared, that a number of species have survived in so-called cryptic refugia located in different areas in the North (Stewart and Lister, 2001; Bhagwat and Willis, 2008; Provan and Bennett, 2008). These refugia are located in different parts of Europe: Western Europe (Valtueña și colab., 2012), Central Europe (Michl et al., 2010) and in the Carpathians.

Extra -Mediterranean refugia were confirmed in Europe for a number of species (Stewart and Lister, 2001; Kotlík et al., 2006; Sommer and Nadachowski, 2006; Schmitt, 2007; Bhagwat and Willis, 2008; Birks and Willis, 2008; Provan and Bennett, 2008; Svenning et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 2010; Varga, 2010). Most studies focus on terrestrial taxa , but there are data for the aquatic and even marine fauna, prooving the existence of cryptic refugia in Europe in these environments, too (Provan and al., 2005; Sedivá et al., 2008; Pauls et al., 2009; Bálint et al., 2011).

Phylogeographic studies besides theoretical importance have an important part as applied science, as used in conservation:

1. identifying populations with high genetic diversity, identifying possible refugia of this diversity: Regional genetic diversity can be important for long-term survival of many species, so it is relevant to the conservation of species and habitats (Frankham, 1995). Knowledge of changes in the distribution of genetic diversity over time helps in identifying conservation units (Hampe and Petit, 2005).

2. In the current context of climate change: Knowing the history of different species in the past climate conditions, we can give predictions on their future survival and distribution (Provan and Bennett, 2008).

1.2.2. Molecular technics and markers used in plant phylogeny and phylogeography

The molecular markers used in phylogenic and phylogeographic studies belong to two categories: proteins (isozyme studies) and DNA. The DNA markers are SNPs (Single Nucleotide Polymorphism), SSR – Simple Sequence Repeats (or STR – Short Tandem Repeats), specific genes, non-codic regions of different genes, intergenic spacers. Plant phylogeny and phylogeography studies use informations provided by three genomes: nrDNA, cpDNA and mtDNA.

Two main groups of markers used in phylogeography and phylogeography can be distinguished: nuclear and non-nuclear markers. The main difference between them is in the way of their inheritance. Nuclear genome presents a biparental inheritance, while those from organelles (mitochondria and chloroplasts) present unipaternal mode of inheritance in case of organisms with sexual reproduction.

Nr ITS is the most widely used nuclear marker in phylogenetic studies. In the recent years single-copy or low-copy nuclear genes are being increasingly used.

After the selection and application of the markers and therefore obtaining the data set, the next steps are sequence alignment, recontstruction and evaluation of phylogenetic trees.

The methods, techniques used are based on sequencing, genotyping, RFLP – Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms, AFLP – Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms and RAPD – Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA.

Methods by which phylogeny can be reconstructed based on genetic data are multiple, most of them can be grouped into one of the following categories: distance methods, methods based on the principle of parsimony and methods based on probability.

Testing phylogenetic trees also can be made in several ways. The most widely used of these are statistical tests, bootsrap test (Felsenstein, 1985) is most often used.

1.3. Conservation genetics – an applied science

Conservation of genetic diversity, one of the aspects of biodiversity is a fundamental issue of conservation biology, as it provides the basic material for evolutionary processes, ie. adaptative potential in changing environment.

Conservation genetics uses theoretical knowledge and genetic techniques to reduce the risk of extinction of endangered species. Its long-term aim is the conservation of species as dynamic entities capable to cope with environmental changes. Currently the focus is on the

consequences arising from the reducing of once large populations (with outcrossing individuals) in small populations where inbreeding effects and stochastic factors dominate.

The molecular data provides information on the evolutionary history and genetic differentiation of species, which helps in making the right decisions on conservation priorities. As a result, conservation genetics constitutes a very important part of molecular biology (Freeland, 2005).

Along with rare species common species require conservation activities, as well. Conservation of diversity of common species has other objectives than those of rare species. Since the existence of the species is not endangered, the evolutionary fitness of the species should be kept.

This draws attention to the need of conservation actions before a taxon reach critical points. Perhaps this is the biggest long-term challenge of conservation genetics: not only to save endangered species, but prevent actually common taxa ever becoming endangered. The purpose of conservation actions for common species is to preserve genetic variability of the species. To designate the target populations, population genetic studies are required. As a first step in common species conservation, the study of the genetic variability of the target species is important (Millar and Libby, 1991).

2. THE OBJECTIVES

Erythronium dens-canis:

- Study of phylogeography of *Erythronium dens-canis* in the Eastern Carpathian Basin, with denser sampling than Bartha et al. (2015a), and with a focus on the surroundings of the Apuseni Mountains.
- Assessing the role of partitioning of the Transylvanian lineage by the Apuseni Mountains.
- Finding a suitable nuclear marker and use of it in intrapopulational genetic diversity studies.

Scilla bifolia:

- Phylogeographic study comprising as much as possible the whole range of the species in Europe.
- Population structure studies in the Carpathian Basin.

Both species:

- Determination of phylogenetic conservation units (unique lineages, subclades and their geographic distribution).
- Determination of populations/geographic ranges with high genetic diversity (with high conservation values).
- Understanding the origins of the lineages, identification of the putative glacial microrefugia for a better understanding of the biogegography of Carpathian Basin.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Sampling

The vegetal material used was collected in March-May 2014 and 2015. In addition, data of the collections from 2013 from Bartha et al. (2015a) have been used, as well as specimens from different collectors/suppliers from herbaria (in case of *Scilla bifolia*). Leaf samples collected were dried and stored in silica gel.

According to the objectives, in case of *Erythronium dens-canis* samples were collected mainly from the surroundings of the Apuseni Mountains. Samples were collected from 107 populations (Fig.1) and on other 27 samples from the study of Bartha et al. (2015a) were used. As outgroups *Erythronium sibiricum* (Fisch. & C.A.Mey.) Krylov, *Erythronium japonicum* Decne. şi *Amana edulis* (Miq.) Honda were selected.



Fig.1. Geographical position of the studied Erythronium dens-canis populations

In case of *Scilla bifolia* samples were collected as far as possible throughout of the whole distribution range of the species, with a denser sampling in the Carpathian Basin.

A total of 128 populations of *Scilla bifolia* were sampled (Fig.2.) – and samples of additional putative closely related (mostly Anatolian) taxa were kindly provided by Hasan Yildrim: *Scilla ingridae, S. vardaria, S. sardensis, S. siehei, S.luciliae, S. sibirica ssp. armena, Puschkinia scilloides, S. × allenii.* As outgrups *Hyacinthoides italica, Hyacinthella heldreichii, Scilla leepii, Bellevalia koyuncui* and *Muscari mirum* were used.



Fig. 2. Geographical origin of the samples used for the Scilla bifolia s.l. study

3.2. DNA extraction

Total genomic DNA was extracted according to protocol from dried leaf fragments from one sample per population, using the Analytik Jena kit.

3.3. Molecular markers used

In case of *Erythronium dens-canis rpl32-trnL* and *rps15-ycf1* intergenic spacers were used. According to test screenings of different plastid regions, these appear to be some of the most variable loci of the Small Single Copy (SSC) region. For intrapopulational variability studies low copy nuclear genes from the litearature were tested (Denton et al., 1998; Roncal et al., 2005; Day et al., 2014), as well as primers designed in the lab.

In case of *Scilla bifolia* the *rpl32-trnL* intergenic spacer was used.

3.4. PCR amplification

PCR amplification of two intergenic spacer regions (*rpl32-trnL* and *rps15-ycf1*) was made in case of *Erythronium dens canis*, and of *rpl32-trnL* in case of *Scilla bifolia*.

PCR was performed in 25µl reaction volumes containing 12.5 µl 2x MyTaq Red Mix (Bioline, Luckenwalde, Germany), 9.5 µl dd water, 1 µl of each preimers (10 µM, Macrogen, The Netherlands) and 1 µl DNA template solution of unknown concentration. The primers used were: rpl32- $F - trnL^{(UAG)}$ (for the rpl32-trnL region) and M1F - M1R (for the rps15-ycf1 region).

DNA amplification was performed in a Gradient Palm-CyclerTM (Corbett Research, Sidney, Australia), using the following parameters: $94^{0}C/4$ min., $40 \times (94^{0}C/45 \text{ sec.}, 61^{0}C/45 \text{ sec.}, 72^{0}C/7 \text{ min.} \text{ Succes of PCR was checked by agarose-gel electrophoresis.}$

PCR products were column purified using a PCR purification kit (Jena Bioscience, Jena, Germany) in case of sequencing in tubes.

In case of *Erythronium dens-canis* amplification of some low copy nuclear genes was tried for testing them as nuclear markers. Volume and composition of reactions was the same as in case of plastid markers.

3.5. Sequencing

Sequencing was performed by Sanger Method at Macrogen Inc. (The Netherlands), using the reverse primer for *rpl32-trnL* region and the forward one for *rps15-ycf1i* region respectively.

3.6. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic analysis

3.6.1. DNA sequence alignment

rpl32-trnL and *rps15-ycf1* sequences were directly exported from chromatograms in FASTA format using ChromasLite v.2.01 (Technelysium Pty).

Sequences were aligned manually in MEGA5 (Tamura et al., 2011).

3.6.2. Haplotype network reconstruction

Haplotype calling and the simultaneous parsimony network reconstruction was performed in TCS (Clement et al. 2000) at 95 % connection limit without taking into consideration gaps and structural mutations due to their putative homoplaseous nature.

3.6.3. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid DNA sequencies

Maximum likelihood analysis based on RAxML (Stamatakis, 2006) was made, using RaxMLGUI v. 1.2 (Silvestro and Michalak, 2012), under the GTR + Γ model of sequence evolution (as recommenden by the RAxML manual). Support for the nodes of the ML topology was assessed via the rapid bootstrap algorithm implemented in RAxML employing 500 replicates (Stamatakis et al. 2008).

Visualisation and editing of phylogenetic trees was made in TrieeView (Page, 1996), FigTree ver. 1.3.1 (A. Rambaut; http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk /software/figtree/), MrEnt (Zuccon and Zuccon, 2006) and CorelDRAW X3.

3.6.4. Calculation of the genetic diversity indices of the clades in case of *Erythronium dens-canis*

In case of *Erythronium dens-canis* indices of genetic diversity of the different clades were calculated, using Dna SP v.5.(Librado and Rozas, 2009).

4. RESULTS

4.1. Results of DNA extraction, sequence amplification, sequencing and alignment of DNA fragments

Extraction of DNA was performed successfully from all of the samples. Concentrations of the genomial DNA obtained varied between 100-400 ng / μ l.

4.1.1. Erythronium dens-canis

4.1.1.1. Plastid DNA

The amplification and sequencing of plastid regions *rpl32* - *trnL* and *rps15* - *ycf1* was performed successfully for each specimen of *Erythronium dens-canis*. A total of 156 *rpl32* - *trnL* and *rps15* - *ycf1* sequences were used in this study, 107 of which were newly generated.

4.1.1.2. Nuclear DNA

The amplification of chosen nuclear regions failed. As a consequence, we quit using nuclear markers for testing signal phylogeography of populations in lack of nuclear sequences.

4.1.2. Scilla bifolia

Amplification of *rpl32 - trnL* region failed in 10 samples. Most of them are herbarium specimens collected several years ago. In 4 cases sequencing failed and in 6 cases we received only partial sequences. As a consequence, these samples were excluded from analysis.

4.2. Number, structure, distribution and haplotype network for the *Erythronium dens-canis*

TCS analysis identified 63 haplotypes of *Erythronium dens-canis* and 3 haplotypes of *E. caucasicum* (Fig.3.). Haplotype network presents a clear structure. Combining information on the geographical origin of haplotypes and network topology, seven main groups can be identified:

- a Caucasian group - containing 3 samples of *E. caucasicum* from Bartha et al. (2015a) study

- a non-Transylvanian group (colored in yellow) – containing nearly all haplotypes of the species distributional range from the Atlantic coast to the southern slopes of the Carpathians, except most of the samples from Transylvania. (Group comprises mainly samples from Bartha et al. (2015a)).

– a Transylvanian group comprising the subgroups: four subgroups containing samples from Transylvania, corresponding to the 4 clades identified by phylogenetic tree reconstruction (see below). These are t1 (group colored in blue), t2 (group colored in red), t3 (group colored in green), and t5 (group colored in orange) and a subset (t4) containing two samples of a population from Croatia from Bartha et al. (2015a).

The non-Transylvanian group is star shaped, its center being the most common haplotype, totalling 22 samples. It presents a wide distribution area. A number of 16 rare haplotypes (most of them represented by a single sample) are connected to this central haplotype with one to several mutational steps.

Samples from Transylvania, although coming from a smaller geographic area presents a more complex structure.

Of the 4 Transylvanian groups, t1 is the largest. It is divided into two subgroups : one has in central a widespread haplotype, totalling 23 samples. To this central haplotype 8 rare haplotypes are connected by single mutational steps, and other 6 haplotypes by several mutational steps. The other subgroup is less numerous, it is connected to the prior subgroup with a central haplotype consisting of 8 samples, to which another 7 haplotypes are connected.

Group t2 presents a less obvious structure, with a total of 13 haplotypes. One of these is larger (7 samples), one consists of three and one of two samples, respectively, the remaining haplotypes being formed only by a single sample.

Group t3 has two bigger haplotypes, (8 and 7 samples, respectively), as well as two haplotypes represented by a single sample. To one of them a haplotype with 2 samples is connected by one mutational step, which is connected with an other haplotype (2 samples).

Group t5 is composed of a single haplotype (3 samples).



Fig. 3. Haplotype network of Erythronium dens-canis. Colours follow those from Fig. 5. Size of circles is proprtional with the number of samples they contain. Small black circles represent unsampled haplotypes.

4.3. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid DNA sequences

4.3.1. Erythronium dens-canis

The analysis of phylogenetic tree generated by ML method (Fig. 4.) shows the existence of three major lineages: a non-Transylvanian lineage (nT - 18 samples from Romania), a Caucasian lineage and a Transylvanian lineage with several clades: t1, t2, t3, t4 and t5.

Erythronium sibiricum used as outgroup appears as sister group with a well supported trichotomy (bs 90 %), consisting of three well-supported clades (Caucasian, non - Transylvanian, and Transylvanian: bs 99, 91 and 89, respectively). The Transylvanian clade presents a politomy, composed of 5 moderate to well supported clades: bs values 53-96.



Fig. 4. ML phylogram based on *rpl32-trnL* and *rps15-ycf1* plastid sequences of the *Erythronium dens-canis*



Fig. 5. Geographical distribution of the clades of Erythronium dens-canis in Transylvania

Close examination of clades taking into account the geographical distribution of the samples (Fig . 5) leads to the recognition that non-Transylvanian lineage, even if contains fewer samples is quite widespread. Samples belonging to this clade are spread in the Southern and Eastern Carpathians.

Caucasian lineage samples belong to the study of Bartha et al. (2015a).

The Transylvanian lineage is highly structured:

- In clade t1 a subclade is inserted between other samples. Samples belonging to this subclade have a remote distribution from most samples distributed in Transylvania. It lies Southwest of the Apuseni Mountains, while the remaining samples come from East and North of the Apuseni Mountains.

-A similar situation exists in case of clade t2, but with different geographical positioning. Here subclade t2 has a distant position, with samples from the South of the Apuseni Mountains, while the rest of the samples come from the North of the Apuseni Mountains.

- Clade t3 includes just a few samples, but here also we can identify two subclades. Samples belonging to the basal subclade are located in the North of the Carpathian Arch, in Ukraine, while those belonging to the distant subclade are only present in a small area of the Apuseni Mountains: in the vallies of Crişul Negru and Crişul Repede Rivers.

- Clade t4 includes two samples from Croatia (samples come from the study of Bartha et al. (2015a)).

- Clade t5 is composed of only two samples from two populations from Banat region.

4.3.2. Scilla bifolia

Four major plastid lineages were identified after generation ML phylogenetic tree of the samples analyzed, denoted A, B, C and D (Fig . 6). A supposed ancient clade (clade A), which appears as a sister clade to a politomy, formed by the clades B, C and D.



Fig. 6. ML Phylogram based on *rpl32-trnL* plastid sequences of *Scilla bifolia* s.l.

Analysing the geographical distribution of clades (Fig . 7), we can conclude that in this case, as in *E. dens- canis* clade B has Transylvanian origin. Clade C is the Caucasian one and clade D the non-Transylvanian one.



Fig. 7. Geographic position of different clades of *Scilla bifolia* s.l.

Clade A is composed of only 4 samples, 3 of which appear at South of the Black Sea and the fourth in the Crimean Peninsula.

Clade B includes all of the 37 samples from the interior of the Carpathian Arch, so this clade has a narrow distributional range. Clade B presents an Anatolian subclade, nested in the

Transylvanian samples. This subclade is composed mainly of the additional putative closely related taxa, but also of 3 samples of *S. bifolia*.

Clade C, the Caucazian one is composed of only two samples from Russia.

Clade D is the biggest clade, with large distributional range. It includes 64 samples of *S*. *bifolia* and two samples of putative closely related species.

4.4. Genetic diversity indices of the clades in case of Erythronium dens-canis

Table 1 presents the indices of genetic diversity calculated for the four specific clades of *Erythronium dens-canis* phylogeography. No calculations have been made for clades t4, t5 and Caucasian clade, because they comprise a very small number of samples.

	Clades			
Diversity indices	nT	t1	t2	t3
Number of sequencies	42	66	23	21
Number of variable sites (S)	17	26	13	7
Number of haplotypes (h)	16	24	13	6
Haplotype diversity (Hd)	0.7	0.856	0.897	0.757
Nucleotide diversity (Pi)	0.00105	0.00136	0.00168	0.00166

Tab. 1. Genetic diversity indices of the clades of *E.dens-canis*

5. DISCUSSION

5.1. Erythronium dens-canis

The structure of the identified lineages and clades can be explained by vicariance or by long distance dispersal.

Lineage differentiation in European *Erythronium* appears to have been heavily influenced by allopatric divergence (Bartha et al., 2015a). Geographical barriers that have contributed to the formation of this lineage are the Pannonian Plain in the West, the Southern Carpathians in the South and the Eastern Carpathians in the East. In case of clades t1-t4, in the absence of geographical barriers, long distance dispersal can give the explanation of their structure.

The nested position of a genetic line within clade t1, with a Southwest distribution of the Apuseni Mountains show that this subclade has formed later. Therefore, taking into account the geographical location of subclades we can conclude that clade t1 has formed East of the Apuseni Mountains, in a putative cryptic glacial refugia from the Eastern Transylvanian Basin, then due to long distance dispersal events it established and spread to the Southwest of the Apuseni Mountains (Fig. 8.).

In case of clade t2, as in the former one, we deal with crytpic refugia, but this time in North of the Apuseni Mountains, followed by a long distance dispersal South of the Apuseni Mountains (Fig. 9).

In clade t3 populations from the North of the Eastern Carpathians are the ancestral ones, those from the Crişul Repede and Crişul Negru Rivers` Vallies settled later, due to long distance dispersal (Fig. 10).

We can conclude therefore, that in case of *Erythronium dens-canis* the existence of the Transylvanian lineage gives evidence of the existence of extra-Mediterranean glacial cryptic refugia in the Eastern Carpathian Basin. According to the refugia-within-refugia theory (Gómez and Lunt, 2007) the highly structuring of this lineage with 4 clades, indicate the existence of microrefugia with unknown exact geographic position. These were located in East (t1 clade) and North (t2 clade) of Apuseni Mountains and in the Easterm Carpathians in Ukraine (t3 clade). From these microrefugia the species expanded its range in South-west and South of the Apuseni Mountains and in Crişul Negru and Crişul Repede Rivers` Vallies respectively, by long-distance dispersal.

The higher haplotype diversity in clade t1 and t2 (Table 1) shows that these clades were present with larger populations in LGM. The narrow actual distribution of clade t3 and the smaller probable dimension of population in LGM is underlined by the lower diversity of this clade than those of clades t1 and t2 (Table 1).



Fig. 8. Position of subclades t1 on the phylogram and their geographic position



Fig. 9. Position of subclades t2 on the phylogram and their geographic position



Fig. 10. Position of subclades t3 on the phylogram and their geographic position

Samples from clade t4 come from a population from Croatia – interesting is their presence in the Transylvanian lineage. According to Bartha et al. (2015a) this clade is a distinct evolutionary unit, and as a consequence has high conservation value.

All identified clades represent unique genetic lineages, and serve as phylogenetic conservation units. Clades t1 and t2 have the highest genetic diversity. Areas with high genetic diversity are important in conservation of a significant proportion of a species diversity and its evolutionary potential (Taberlet and Cheddadi, 2002). As a result, these two clades have high conservation value.

Since clade t5 has the most restricted distribution area, at the southern limit of the Transylvanian lineage, specimens of these populations have high conservation values, as well as populations from the Crişul Negru and Crişul Repede Rivers` Vallies.

5.2. Scilla bifolia

The factors explaining the structuring of the clades of *Scilla bifolia* are those presented at the former species: biogeographic factors (barriers, cryptic refugia) and stochastic events. The Transylvanian clade is precisely delimitated – the species survived the LGM in extra-Mediterranean cryptic refugia from the Eastern Carpathian Basin.

Clade B have an Anatolian subclade, nested in the Transylvanian samples, suggestive of its secondary establishment in Asia Minor. There may be two different explanations for the formation of these taxa in Anatolia: 1. processes of radiative evolution, after the establishment of specimen in Anatolia; 2.these new taxa suffered introgressive chloroplast capture. In the current state of research on the *Scilla bifolia* s.l. we can not decide which of these two explanations is correct.

6. CONCLUSIONS

- Phylogeography structure of the two species is clear.
- The two studied species present highly similar structure. For both species topology shows clearly the existence of a narrowly distributed Transylvanian lineage limited in the Eastern Carpathian Basin. The existence of these lineages gives evidence of the existence of cryptic glacial extra-Mediterranean refugia in the studied region.
- In case of *E. dens-canis* the Transylvanian lineage presents four distinct clades, which, according to the refugia within refugia theory indicate the existence of microrefugia with unknown exact geographic position. These were located in East (t1 clade) and North (t2 clade) of Apuseni Mountains and in the Ukrainian Carpathians (t3 clade). From these microrefugia the species expanded its range in South-west and South of the Apuseni Mountains and in Crişul Negru and Crişul Repede Rivers` Vallies respectively, by long-distance dispersal.
- The Quaternary history of *E. dens-canis* in the Carpathian Basin was affected both by biogeographic factors (microrefugia, barriers formation of the Transylvanian lineage) and by stochastic events (long-distance dispersal formation of the clades).
- In case of *Scilla bifolia* four genetic lineages were identified: an ancient lineage, one of Transylvanian origin (with restricted distribution), a Caucasian one and a non – Transylvanian one (with wide distribution).
- The Transylvanian lineage has a nested Anatolian subclade (of secondary origin in Asia Minor) within the samples from Transylvania. There may be two different explanations for the formation of these taxa in Anatolia :
 - 1. processes of radiative evolution, after the establishment of specimen in Anatolia

- 2. These new taxa suffered introgressive chloroplast capture. In the current state of research on the *Scilla bifolia* s.l. we can not decide which of these two explanations is correct.
- All identified clades are unique and therefore serve as phylogenetic conservation units.
- Clades t1 and t2 have the greatest genetic diversity. As a consequence, these clades have the greatest chance to have evolutionary potential and ability to adapt to future climate change conditions. Therefore populations belonging to these clades have high conservation values.
- t5 clade from southern Banat is a very small one and it is situated at the Southern limit of the Transylvanian lineage. Therefore, these are probably the most endangered populations under the ongoing climate change.
- The populations from Crişul Negru and Crişul Repede Rivers` Vallies from t3 clade have a narrow distribution, and therefore have high conservation values.
- Currently, the lowland populations have become rare due to vast woodland habitat replacement with farmland. Mass deforestation of forests from lowland to mountain areas can lead to fragmentation of populations, decreasing their size (with all the negative consequences on population genetics) and finally to their extinction.

7. SELECTED REFERENCES

- Allen, G. A., Soltis, D. E., Soltis, P. S. 2003. Phylogeny and biogeography of *Erythronium* (LILIACEAE) inferred from chloroplast matK and nuclear rDNA ITS sequences. *Systematic Botany*. 28(3): 512-523.
- Avise, J. C., Arnold, J., Ball Jr., R. M., Bermingham, E., Lamb, T., Neigel, J. E., Reeb, C. A., Saunders, N. C. 1987. Intraspecific phylogeography: the mitochondrial DNA bridge between population genetics and systematics. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*. 18: 489-522.
- Bálint, M., Ujvárosi, L., Theissinger, K., Lehrian, S., Mészáros, N., Pauls, S. U. 2011. The Carpathians as a Major Diversity Hotspot in Europe. *In* Biodiversity Hotspots. *Edited by* Zachos, F. E., and Habel, J. C. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg. pp. 189-205.
- Bănărescu, P., Boșcaiu, N. 1973. Biogeografie. Perspectivă genetică și istorică. Editura științifică, București.
- Bartha, L., Sramkó, G., Volkova, P., Surina, B., Ivanov, A., Banciu, H. 2015a. Patterns of plastid DNA differentiation in Erythronium (Liliaceae) are consistent with allopatric lineage divergence in Europe across longitude and latitude. *Plant Systematics and Evolution.* **301**(6): 1747-1758.
- Bartha, L., Stepanov, N., Rukšāns, J., Banciu, H., Keresztes, L. 2015b. Non-monophyly of Siberian Erythronium (Liliaceae) leads to the recognition of the formerly neglected *Erythronium sajanense. Journal of Plant Research*. 1-9.
- Bhagwat, S. A., Willis, K. J. 2008. Species persistence in northerly glacial refugia of Europe: a matter of chance or biogeographical traits? *Journal of Biogeography*. **35**(3): 464-482.
- Birks, H. J. B., Willis, K. J. 2008. Alpines, trees and refugia in Europe. *Plant Ecol Divers.* 1: 147-160.
- Bremer, B., colab., ş. 2009. An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG III. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*. **161**(2): 105-121.
- Ciocârlan, V. 2009. Flora ilustrată a României: Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. Editura Ceres, București.
- Clennett, J. C. B., Chase, M. W., Forest, F., Maurin, O., Wilkin, P. 2012. Phylogenetic systematics of *Erythronium* (LILIACAEA): morphological and molecular analyses. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*. **170**(4): 504-528.
- Csergő, A.-M., Schönswetter, P., Mara, G., Deák, T., Boşcaiu, N., Höhn, M. 2009. Genetic structure of peripheral, island-like populations: a case study from Saponaria bellidifolia Sm. (Caryophyllaceae) in the Romanian Carpathians. *Plant Systematics and Evolution.* 278: 33–41.
- Day, P. D., Berger, M., L., H., Fay, M. F., Leitch, A. R., I.J., L., L.J., K. 2014. Evolutionary relationships in the medicinally important genus *Fritillaria* L. (LILIACEAE). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution.* 80: 11-19.

- Denton, A. L., McConaughy, B. L., Hall, B. D. 1998. Usefulness of RNA Polymerase II coding sequences for estimation of green plant phylogeny. *Molecular Biology and Evolution.* 15: 1082-1085.
- Ehrich, D., Gaudeul, M., Assefa, A., Koch, M. A., Mummenhof, K., Nemomissa, S., Intrabiodiv-Consortium1, Brochmann, C. 2007. Genetic consequences of Pleistocene range shifts: Contrast between the Arctic, the Alps and the East African mountains. *Molecular Ecology*. 16: 2542–2559.
- Felsenstein, J. 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution*. **39**(4): 783-791.
- Frankham, R. 1995. Conservation genetics. Annual Rev Genet. 29: 305-327.
- Freeland, J. 2005. Molecular Ecology. John Wiley & Sond Ltd.
- Ghavami, E., Jamzad, Z., Tavasoli, A. 2009. Evaluation of pollen morphology as a taxonomic character for generic delimitation in *Scilla* s.l. (HYACINTHACEAE). *Nordic Journal of Botany.* **27**(6): 510-515.
- Gómez, A., Lunt, D. H. 2007. Refugia within refugia: Patterns of phylogeographic concordance in the Iberian Peninsula. *In* Phylogeography of southern European refugia. *Edited by* Weiss, S., and Ferrand, N. Springer, Dordrecht. pp. 155–188.
- Guitián, J., Guitián, P., Medrano, M., Sanchez, J. M. 1999. Variation in floral morphology and individual fecundity in *Erythronium dens-canis* (LILIACEAE). *Ecography*. 22: 708-714.
- Guitián, P., Medrano, M., Guitián, J. 2003. Seed dispersal in *Erythronium dens-canis* L. (LILIACEAE): variation among habitats in a myrmecochorous plant. *Plant Ecology*. 169(2): 171-177.
- Hampe, A., Petit, R. J. 2005. Conserving biodiversity under climate change: the rear edge matters. *Ecology Letters*. 8(5): 461-467.
- Hewitt, G. M. 1999. Post-glacial recolonization of European biota. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*. **68**(1-2): 87-112.
- Ibrahim, K. M., Nichols, R. A., Hewitt, G. M. 1996. Spatial patterns of genetic variation generated by different forms of dispersal during range expansion. *Heredity*. **77**(3): 282-291.
- Kotlík, P., Deffontaine, V., Mascheretti, S., Zima, J., Michaux, J. R., Searle, J. B. 2006. A northern glacial refugium for bank voles (*Clethrionomys glareolus*). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA. 103(40): 14860-14864.
- Librado, P., Rozas, J. 2009. DnaSP v5: A software for comprehensive analysis of DNA polymorphism data. *Bioinformatics*. **25**: 1451-1452.
- Michl, T., Huck, S., Schmitt, T., Liebrich, A., Haase, P., Büdel, B. 2010. The molecular population structure of the tall forb *Cicerbita alpina* (Asteraceae) supports the idea of cryptic glacial refugia in central Europe. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*. 164(2): 142-154.
- Millar, C. I., Libby, W. J. 1991. Strategies for Conserving Clinal, Ecotypic, and Disjunct Population Diversity in Widespread Species. *In* Genetics and Conservation of Rare Plants. *Edited by* Falk, D. A., and Holsinger, K. Oxford University Press.

- Moore, D. M. 1982. Flora Europaea check-list and chromosome index. Cambridge University Press.
- Page, R. D. M. 1996. Treeview: An application to display phylogenetic trees on personal computers. *Computer Applications in the Biosciences*. **12**(4): 357–358.
- Patterson, T. B., Givnish, T. J. 2002. Phylogeny, concerted convergence and phylogenetic niche conservatism in the core Liliales: insights from *rbcL* and *ndhF* sequence data. *Evolution.* 56: 233-252.
- Pauls, S. U., Theissinger, K., Ujvárosi, L., Bálint, M., Haase, P. 2009. Patterns of population structure in two closely related, sympatric caddisflies in Eastern Europe: historic introgression, limited dispersal and cryptic diversity. J North Am Benthol Soc. 28: 517-536.
- Provan, J., al., e. 2005. Phylogenetic analysis of the red seaweed *Palmaria palmata* reveals a Pleistocene marine glacial refugium in the English Channel. *Molecular Ecology*. **14**: 793-803.
- Provan, J., Bennett, K. D. 2008. Phylogeographic insights into cryptic glacial refugia. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **23**(10): 564-571.
- Puşcaş, M., Choler, P., Tribsch, A., Gielly, L., Rioux, D., Gaudeul, M., Taberlet, P. 2008. Post-glacial history of the dominant alpine sedge *Carex curvula* in the European Alpine System inferred from nuclear and chloroplast markers. *Molecular Ecology*. 17(10): 2417-2429.
- Richardson, I. B. K. 1980. *Erythronium* L. *In* Flora Europaea V. *Edited by* T.G., T., V.H., H., N.A., B., D.H., V., S.M, W., and Webb, D. A. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Roncal, J., Francisco-Ortega, J., Asmussen, C. B., Lewis, C. E. 2005. Molecular phylogenetics of tribe Geonomeae (ARECACEAE) using nuclear DNA sequences of phosphoribulokinase and RNA polymerase II. *Systematic Botany*. **30**: 275-283.
- Ronikier, M. 2011. Biogeography of high-mountain plants in the Carpathians: An emerging phylogeographical perspective. *Taxon.* **60**(2): 373-389.
- Ronikier, M., Cieślak, E., Korbecka, G. 2008. High genetic differentiation in the alpine plant *Campanula alpina* Jacq. (Campanulaceae): evidence for glacial survival in several Carpathian regions and long-term isolation between the Carpathians and the Alps. *Molecular Ecology*. 17(7): 1763-1775.
- Ronikier, M., Schneeweiss, G. M., Schönswetter, P. 2012. The extreme disjunction between Beringia and Europe in *Ranunculus glacialis* s. l. (Ranunculaceae) does not coincide with the deepest genetic split – a story of the importance of temperate mountain ranges in arctic–alpine phylogeography. *Molecular Ecology*. 21(22): 5561-5578.
- Sanda, V., Popescu, A., Doltu, M. I., Doniță, N. 1983. Caracterizarea ecologică și fitocenolgică a speciilor spontane din flora României. *Studii și comunicări Științele Naturael Muzeul Bruckenthal.* (25 Supl.): 95, 96.
- Săvulescu, T. 1966. Flora R.S.R. *Edited by* Săvulescu, T. Edit. Acad. R.S.R., România. pp. 304-305.
- Schmitt, T. 2007. Molecular biogeography of Europe: Pleistocene cycles and postglacial trends. *Frontiers in Zoology*. **4**(11): 1-13.

- Schmitt, T., Rákosy, L., Abadjiev, S., Müller, P. 2006. Multiple differentiation centres of a non-Mediterranean butterfly species in south-eastern Europe. *Journal of Biogeography*. 34: 939-950.
- Schmitt, T., Varga, Z. 2012. Extra-Mediterranean refugia: The rule and not the exception? *Front Zool.* **9**(1): 22.
- Schneeweiss, G. M., Schönswetter, P. 2011. A re-appraisal of nunatak survival in arcticalpine phylogeography. *Molecular Ecology Notes*. **20**: 190–192.
- Schönswetter, P., Stehlik, I., Holderegger, R., Tribsch, A. 2005. Molecular evidence for glacial refugia of mountain plants in the European Alps. *Molecular Ecology*. 14(11): 3547-3555.
- Sedivá, A., Janko, K., Slechtová, V., Kotlík, P., Simonovic, P., Delic, A., Vassilev, M. 2008. Around or across the Carpathians: colonization model of the Danube basin iferred from negetic diversification of stone loach (*Barbatula barbatula*) populations. *Molecular Ecology*. 17: 1277-1292.
- Siljak-Yakovlev, S., Pustahija, F., oli, M., E., Boguni, F., Muratovi, E., Ba, N., Catrice, O., Brown, S. C. 2010. Towards a Genome Size and Chromosome Number Database of Balkan Flora: C-Values in 343 Taxa with Novel Values for 242. Advanced Science Letters. 3(2): 190-213.
- Silvestro, D., Michalak, I. 2012. raxmlGUI: a graphical front-end for RAxML. Organisms Diversity & Evolution. 12(4): 335-337.
- Sommer, R. S., Nadachowski, A. 2006. Glacial refugia of mammals in Europe: evidence from fossil records. *Mammal Review*. **36**: 251-265.
- Speta, F. 1979. Karyological investigations in Scilla in regard to their importance for taxonomy. *Webbia*. **34**: 419–431.
- Stamatakis, A. 2006. RAxML-VI-HPC: maximum likelihood-based phylogenetic analyses with thousands of taxa and mixed models. *Bioinformatics*. **22**(21): 2688-2690.
- Stewart, J. R., Lister, A. M. 2001. Cryptic northern refugia and the origins of the modern biota. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **16**(11): 608-613.
- Stewart, J. R., Lister, A. M., Barnes, I., Dalén, L. 2010. Refugia revisited: individualistic responses of species in space and time. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*. 277(1682): 661-671.
- Svenning, J. C., Normand, S., Kageyama, M. 2008. Glacial refugia of temperate trees in Europa: insights from species distribution modelling. *Journal of Ecology*. 96: 1117-1127.
- Taberlet, P., Cheddadi, R. 2002. Ecology. Quaternary refugia and persistence of biodiversity. *Science*. **297**: 2009-2010.
- Taberlet, P., Fumagalli, L., Wust-Saucy, A.-G., Cosson, J.-F. 1998. Comparative phylogeography and postglacial colonization routes in Europe. *Molecular Ecology*. 7(4): 453-464.
- Tribsch, A., Schönswetter, P. 2003. Patterns of endemism and comparative phylogeography confirm palaeo-environmental evidence for Pleistocene refugia in the Eastern Alps. *Taxon.* **52**: 477–497.

- Ujvárosi, L., Markó, B. E. 2011. The Carpathians as speciation centres and barriers: from case studies to general patterns. Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca.
- Varga, Z. 2010. Extra-Mediterranean refugia, post-glacial vegetation history and area dynamics in Eastern Central Europe. Springer, Heidelberg.
- Zuccon, A., Zuccon, D. 2006. MrEnt v2.2. Program distributed by the authors. Department of Vertebrate Zoology & Molecular Systematics Laboratory, Swedish Museum of Natural History, Stockholm.

8. TABLE OF CONTENTS OF THE PHD THESIS

1. ABBREVIATIONS	3
2. INTRODUCTION	7
3. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	9
3.1. General presentation of the species	11
3.1.1. <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i> – taxonomy, morphology, corology, characterisation in terms of ecology and coenology	11
3.1.2. <i>Scilla bifolia</i> – taxonomy, morphology, corology, characterisation in terms of ecology and coenology	11
3.2. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic studies	15
3.2.1. Theoretical considerations	19
3.2.2. Molecular technics and markers used in plant phylogeny and phylogeography	19
3.3. Conservation genetics – an applied science	28
3.4. Former studies concerning the studied species	31
3.4.1. Erythronium dens-canis	31
3.4.2. Scilla bifolia	36
4. THE OBJECTIVES	37
5. MATERIALS AND METHODS	39
5.1. Plant sampling	39
5.2. Database	59
5.3. DNA extraction	59
5.4. Selection of molecular markers	60
5.4.1. Erythronium dens-canis	60
5.4.2. Scilla bifolia	60
5.5. PCR amplification	62
5.6. Sequencing	64
5.7. Phylogenetic and phylogeographic analysis	64
5.7.1. DNA sequence alignment	64
5.7.2. Haplotype network reconstruction	65
5.7.3. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid sequencies	65
5.7.4. Calculation of the genetic diversity indices of the clades in case of <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i>	66
6. RESULTS	67
6.1. Results of the sampling	67

6.2. Results of DNA extraction, sequence amplification, sequencing and alignment of DNA fragments	69
6.2.1. Erythronium dens-canis	69
6.2.1.1. plastid DNA	69
6.2.1.2. nuclear DNA	71
6.2.2. Scilla bifolia	71
6.3. Number, structure, distribution and haplotype network for the <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i>	72
6.4. Reconstruction of the phylogenetic trees based on plastid sequencies	75
6.4.1. Erythronium dens-canis	75
6.4.2. Scilla bifolia	81
6.5. Genetic diversity indices of the clades in case of Erythronium dens-canis	
7. DISCUSSION	85
7.1. Erythronium dens-canis	
7.2. Scilla bifolia	
8. CONCLUSIONS	95
9. REFERENCES	99
10. APPENDICES	117
10.1. Annex nr. 1. Informations regarding the vegetal material collected for the studies of <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i> by (Bartha et al. , 2015a)	118
10.2. Annex nr. 2. Variabile nucleotide positions of the <i>rpl32-trnL</i> alignment in case of Erythronium dens-canis samples	120
10.3. Annex nr. 3. Variabile nucleotide positions of the <i>rps15-ycf1</i> alignment in case of <i>Erythronium dens-canis</i> samples	131
10.4. Annex nr. 4. Variabile nucleotide positions of the <i>rpl32-trnL</i> alignment in case of <i>Scilla bifolia</i> samples	137
11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	145
12. KEYWORDS	147
13. ABSTRACT	149